
   [image: cover]


   
      
         

         
            H-BOMBS &

HULA GIRLS

            Operation Grapple 1957 and the Last

Royal Navy Gunroom at Sea

            Written and compiled by Michael Johnston

         

         
            
               
[image: ]
               

            

         

      

   


   
      
         

         
            
[image: ]
               Albatross following Warrior through the Magellan Straits (John Hutchinson)
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            15 MAY 1957

         

         ‘Bomb gone!’

         In the cloudless sky nine miles above Malden Island, around 300 miles south of the equator, the bomb started its fifty-two second parabolic descent. No ordinary bomb. This was a live hydrogen bomb. The RAF Valiant bomber went into a tight turn to port, the bomb aimer placed the light-tight cover over his sights. The telemetry sender switch was pressed on HMS Narvik and the recording instruments on the island responded.

         Within less than a minute, history would be written, and a memory of the moment would be permanently etched in the mind’s eye of all those present – not least the ten young men who made up the National Service members of the Gunroom in HMS Warrior twenty-six miles from Ground Zero. Warrior, a Colossus Class light fleet aircraft carrier, was the lead ship of the Royal Navy squadron forming part of Operation Grapple, Britain’s first ever nuclear fusion test programme. At that same moment a bond would be fused between the ten that has not been broken in nearly sixty years.

         On Warrior’s flight deck, and at their watch stations in the several ships of the Grapple Squadron, the crews were already turning their backs on the coming explosion, pulling the white hoods on their anti-flash overalls up and their dark goggles down, closing their eyes, and finally covering the goggles with their gloved hands. From the starboard wing of Warrior’s compass platform, standing beside the Commodore and the Commander, Midshipman Cooper relayed the countdown over the ship’s Tannoy.

         ‘Thirty seconds … twenty seconds … ten seconds … five seconds, four, three, two, one.’

         In every listening radio in the central Pacific came a loud click, caused by the electro-magnetic radiation from the nuclear reaction, and the bomb’s trace on HMS Narvik’s telemetry receiver vanished, leaving only the straight base line. The weapon exploded at 8,000 feet. On the backs of all spectators on Warrior, Narvik, Messina and the other ships of the squadron, came a sudden flash of heat, as though the fire door of a great furnace had momentarily been opened behind them; and despite tightly shut eyes and hands over them, there was a sensation of brilliant light. There are many, indeed, in telling of it afterwards, who can recall seeing an image of the bones in their fingers.

         Ten seconds later, permission was given to turn round and gaze with awe at what man had wrought. At this stage, there was still a large orange and red fireball, churning in the sky to the south and steadily rising. A thin pancake of cloud formed above the rapidly greying fireball. Steam and water vapour from ground zero were drawn upwards in a slender cone towards the underside of the vast cloud, creating the iconic mushroom image that twelve years of nuclear fission and fusion explosions had made so very recognisable.

         Recognisable or not, surely none of those spectators had actually witnessed such an awesome sight before. Some say they didn’t hear anything, but Sub-Lieutenant Johnston on the flight deck remembers instinctively ducking as the sound wave from the explosion, travelling much slower than the flash of light, caught him unawares. From the compass platform, Cooper, an experienced sailor, saw the air pressure wave radiating out across the surface of the Pacific. Midshipman Riches on the flight deck felt the wind, saw the sea ruffling and heard the sound wave – like prolonged but distant gunfire.

         On board Messina, when the ban on private camera use was lifted after two minutes, Midshipman Anson began to shoot what is thought to be the only private ciné film made of the explosion. On all the ships, crews were passing each other their cameras to be photographed standing in front of the cloud pillar and dome. In Warrior’s Ops Room, where the tension during the drop had been palpable, Midshipmen Reed and Hume joined the rush outside to stare and take photographs. Hume recalls the looks of amazement on the faces of everyone. Midshipman Hutchinson, on watch on the compass platform in protective clothing, turned to gaze at the fireball when the all clear was given and felt a deep sense of awe.

         Within thirty minutes, a helicopter took off from Warrior, flew to Narvik to pick up the Health Physics team, and made the first, post-nuclear approach to Malden Island, checking the levels of radiation as it approached and descended. Fires were burning on the island and a low dark cloud stretched out some two or three miles down wind. But there was no radiation detected: the instruments had all survived and made their vital measurements.

         Britain was now a megaton thermonuclear power and here was the evidence to prove it – or was there?

      

   


   
      
         

            1956

         

         It would be no exaggeration to say that 1956 was a busy year at any and every level. One year before, in February 1955, the British Government had announced its decision to build the country’s own hydrogen bomb, immensely more powerful than the atom bombs that had ended World War II. At the end of that year, the Pope, in his Christmas broadcast, had spoken of the need to suspend nuclear tests. If Britain had ambitions to possess a fully operational H-bomb, the Government would need to move swiftly so that this could be achieved before world opinion, in the form of a test ban treaty, brought testing, especially atmospheric testing, to an end.

         At a geopolitical level, April 1956 saw the much anticipated visit to the UK of the Soviet leaders Bulganin and Khrushchev on board the Soviet’s latest warship, the Ordzhonikidze, which docked at Portsmouth, the Royal Navy’s most important base. At that same moment, several of the future ‘Warriors’ were RNVR Ordinary Seamen doing their fortnight’s training and finding time to exchange their RN cigarettes, known as ‘blue liners’ for the blue line down each cigarette, with their Russian opposite numbers who gladly traded their strange cardboard-and-black-tobacco Russian ones. While on the surface the diplomats, politicians and sailors were all smiles, beneath the surface, literally, less diplomatic events were taking place. A botched CIA/MI6 undersea operation, aiming to explore the then state-of-the-art Ordzhonikidze, ended in the disappearance of MI6 diver Commander Lionel ‘Buster’ Crabb. The body of Crabb, one of several MI6 agents involved in the operation, was never recovered. In 2007, Eduard Koltsov, a retired Russian military diver, said he killed a man he thinks was Crabb, as he was ‘trying to place a mine’ on the Soviet ship.

         1956 was also the year of Suez and Hungary, often bracketed together since the British/French/Israeli actions in Egypt were then, and are still now, perceived as a very convenient public relations excuse for the Soviet invasion of Hungary. In Cold War terms, the USA was already a thermonuclear power and had carried out an aerial H-bomb test at Bikini Atoll on 21 May; with the aircraft missing the target site by around four miles, resulting in the loss of all the scientific data that instruments at the target site were set up to collect. In the UK, the DIDO heavy-water enriched uranium nuclear reactor began operation at the British Atomic Weapon Research Establishment (AWRE) at Aldermaston. In October, the Queen opened the world’s first commercial nuclear power station at Calder Hall, a by-product of which was weapons grade plutonium, while the Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament (CND) was in the process of formation, being launched the following year.

         Meanwhile, at a national level, Tesco opened its first self-service stores in St Albans and Maldon, while double yellow lines were painted on the road to forbid parking in certain parts of Slough. The Queen Mother’s racehorse Devon Loch was within sight of the winning post in the Grand National, ridden by the so far unpublished author Dick Francis, when it collapsed inexplicably, only fifty yards from the finish. Chancellor of the Exchequer Harold Macmillan introduced Premium Bonds in his Budget speech in April, with the winners to be chosen by ERNIE (the electronic random number indicator equipment). The Minister of Health, R H Turton, rejected a call for a government-led anti-smoking campaign, stating that no ill-effects had yet been proven. Espresso bars were beginning to be opened, mainly in the London area, but the availability at that time of ‘frothy coffee’ at least as far north as the Scottish Borders has been verified. John Osborne’s play Look Back in Anger opened on 8 May at the Royal Court Theatre to a combination of bafflement, disapproval and critical acclaim. Dodie Smith’s book 101 Dalmatians was published and Third Class railway travel was abolished by the simple expedient of rebranding it as Second Class. Manchester United won the Football League First Division title in April and then went on to win the FA Cup in May.

         In December, the Irish Republican Army (IRA) launched its Border Campaign in Northern Ireland leading to the use of the Special Powers Act by the Government of Northern Ireland to intern several hundred republican suspects and sympathisers.

         What the public certainly did not know at the time was that in early September, even as early negotiations were under way to establish the European Common Market, Guy Mollet, then Socialist Prime Minister of France, visited London and proposed to Sir Anthony Eden, his British opposite number, that their two countries should merge. Eden rejected that idea; just as, later that month, he would reject the alternative proposal of allowing France to join the Commonwealth of Nations. However, it did demonstrate a certain cordial entente between the two countries that would be further exemplified by the Protocol of Sèvres, concluded in October (its existence subsequently denied by Eden) between Britain, France and Israel, aimed at covertly engineering sufficient justification for an Anglo-French invasion of Egypt in order to seize back control of Suez from Colonel Nasser who had nationalised the Canal Company in July. Even more significant in the longer term, as revealed almost half a century later in Michael Karpin’s 2001 documentary ‘A Bomb in the Basement’, Abel Thomas, chief of political staff for France’s Defence Minister at the time, claimed that François Perrin, head of the French Atomic Energy Commission, had advised Guy Mollet that Israel should be provided with a nuclear bomb. According to the documentary, France provided Israel with a nuclear reactor and staff to set it up in Israel together with enriched uranium and the means to produce plutonium in exchange for support in the Suez War.1

         For Air Commodore Wilfred Oulton, 1956 really got under way on a chilly Monday morning in February when he was summoned to an unexpected meeting with ACAS(Ops), otherwise known as Air Vice Marshall Lees. Oulton recalls that meeting in his attractively ‘Biggles’-like memoir.
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            Two quick knocks on the inner door and he went in to the large, quiet office, but with no eyes at this moment for the lovely view of the Embankment Gardens and the river.

            ‘Good afternoon, sir. You wanted me?’

            The piercing blue eyes looked up and the rugged pugnacious face behind the desk took on a cheery welcoming smile.

            ‘Hello, Wilf. Come and sit down. I’ve got a new job for you.’ Just a trace left of that Australian accent.

            Air Vice Marshall Lees got up and moved over to a couple of armchairs fronted by a low, glass-topped coffee table. Broad, stocky, aggressive, he was every inch a fighter ace and leader. A first-class operator – direct, uncompromising and knowing his job inside out.

            They sat down and Lees proffered a cigarette, which was refused with a smile and a shake of the head.

            ‘A new job, sir?’

            ‘Yes,’ with a wide grin. ‘I want you to go out and drop a bomb somewhere in the Pacific and take a picture of it with a Brownie camera.’

            ‘Well, that doesn’t sound too difficult at first sight and might be fun.’ Then, more cautiously, ‘What kind of a bomb?’

            A pause for a pull on the cigarette.

            ‘A megaton thermo-nuclear device.’

            ‘Good God!’2

         

         Lees went on to explain both the extent and the urgency of the project. With pressure mounting on the major powers to agree a test-ban treaty outlawing above ground testing of nuclear weapons, if Britain wanted to be in the nuclear club then the capability to design, build, deliver and explode an H-bomb that could be perceived as a credible deterrent in the Cold War stand-off, had to be demonstrated before the middle of 1957, lest the much-mooted treaty came into force and prevented it. Britain had been conducting atomic weapons research at the Monte Bello Islands off Western Australia and the Americans’ H-bomb tests were ongoing at Bikini Atoll. With hindsight, the precautions against radiation injury from the ‘fall-out’ had been seen, in both cases, to be less than wholly adequate. Thus the stipulation, according to Lees, that ‘the one immutable condition was […] there should be no injury to non-British personnel and property. We can’t have another ‘Dagon-sha’ incident like the American trouble at Bikini.’3

         According to Oulton, that ‘somewhere in the Pacific’ mentioned by Lees just might have been the very remote French Kerguelen Islands, 49oS in the southern Indian Ocean with a climate similar to the Falklands, and known on some charts as the Desolation Islands, which are almost equidistant from South Africa, Australia and the Antarctic continent. Fortunately for those who might have been sent for many months to these rocky, snow-covered islands in the Roaring Forties, the choice fell instead on Christmas Island, part of the Line Islands District of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands, lying almost on the equator, due south of Hawaii. However, in letters exchanged between Sir Anthony Eden, UK Prime Minister, and his New Zealand opposite number Sidney Holland in 1955, in the National Archives of New Zealand, Eden asks about using the Kermadec Islands in the South Pacific, some 800 miles north-east of Auckland.4 After careful consideration, New Zealand turned the request down. In addition, it would seem unlikely that France would have consented to the use of their territory for British tests when France had not yet tested an atomic weapon, despite having an unlimited supply of uranium from a mine near Limoges. So it seems probable that Oulton’s recollection, on this particular point, is incorrect.

         Christmas Island was, like many landfalls in the Pacific, ‘discovered’ by Captain (then Lieutenant) James Cook RN on Christmas Eve 1777: hence the chosen name which it has kept to this day, but now in Gilbertese, Karitimati (the ‘t’s are sounded like an ‘s’), the principal island of the Republic of Kiribati, independent since 1979 and a member of the Commonwealth.

         It seems somehow typical of a very British attitude to forward planning, that Oulton was supposed to pull everything together from all three services and a handful of separate ministries, including building from scratch an airfield capable of receiving Valiants, the newest in the RAF’s range of jet bombers; aeroplanes so new, in fact, that the intended aircraft were not yet in service. The logistics were daunting; especially for the 1950s when almost everything electronic was in its infancy and AWRE had not yet given birth to a workable megaton nuclear weapon that could be dropped on target with pinpoint accuracy. Such accuracy was required not only for the purpose of accurately measuring the weapon’s output but, even more politically important, for the safety of the thousands of service and scientific personnel who would be involved, never mind any visiting Japanese fishermen or inquisitive Russian submarines. It seems, however, just as typical of that period that, despite some hair-raising moments and ad hoc solutions to problems on the move, Oulton and those he led were able to deliver everything asked of them by the middle of May 1957. The whole enterprise was to be called ‘Operation Grapple’, a name of no particular significance when chosen as a code word by the Ministry of Supply, but Oulton would later tell those taking part that the four hooks of the grapnel held by the cormorant represented the three armed services and the civilian scientists. He did not, however, anthropomorphise the cormorant.5
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               Grapple map of Christmas Island (Rowsell)

            

         

         Initially, it was all supposed to be ‘co-ordinated’ by the Grapple Committee. Since, like many experienced managers, Oulton believed nothing good was ever created by a committee, he knew from the outset that he would have to be a ruthless leader in order to deliver the required result within the narrow time frame laid down. Attending Sunday Service just two days after his appointment and consequent promotion to Air Vice Marshal, Oulton’s mind was not on the sermon but he did like the text; 1 Corinthians 14 vv 8 & 9. ‘And if the bugle gives an indistinct sound, who will get ready for battle? So with yourselves, if with your tongue you utter speech that is not intelligible, how will anyone know what is said? For you will be speaking into the air.’ Sitting in the pew of his parish church, he resolved to act decisively.6

         Oulton was not only put in command of the Services, but out at Christmas Island he had authority over the scientists as well, so that, in any crisis, he had no need to refer any decision upwards or argue the toss with civilians as the fuse burned lower. Decisions ranged across life or death issues such as what to prepare for should the megaton weapon malfunction, fail to drop, or, in the worst possible scenario, explode at ground level resulting in considerable radioactive pollution. Thanks to the combined efforts of all those taking part, none of these things happened. However, one lesser decision was to approve the adoption of an Operation Grapple tie. It was suggested by Captain Guy Western RN that since many at the HQ staff in London worked in plain clothes and could be strangers to one another, it might help to have a Grapple tie. Oulton suggested that choosing the emblem of the Joint Services Staff College would reflect the multidisciplinary nature of the task force and that a grappling iron with four hooks could be added. So it was agreed, and the Jermyn Street outfitters T M Lewin were tasked with its production, a silver cormorant and grapnel with a diagonal silver line on a black background.7

         Perhaps the only problem with the tie was unavoidable in 1957. The narrowness which was the fashion then for tie wearers and small boys holding up cricket shorts became almost unwearable in the 21st century. However, when contacted by the Warrior Gunroom several decades later, Lewin’s rose to the occasion again and produced for them the wider, longer version that all those Gunroom officers now own, but so far have not needed in order to be able to recognise each other.
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         Apart from a six inch thick concrete airstrip built to the highest specifications, plus dispersal areas and repair facilities protected from the Trade Winds, a tented camp for sleeping accommodation for 3,000 men and huts for offices and messing, the very basic ‘harbour’ at Port of London would need the channel dredged plus an anchorage and buoys for the larger ships. There would also have to be a reliable and efficient ship-to-shore unloading set-up that could safely move the heavy equipment needed for building the airfield. All of this, plus the personnel to carry out the tasks, had to be shipped by sea and air and deployed with speed and purpose. Decca Navigation signal stations had to be established with their necessary logistic support on the outlying islands of Palmyra, Starbuck, Fanning, Jarvis and Penrhyn to allow their radio beams to generate an accurate fix for the ships and aircraft. Weather forecasting data, at heights of up to 100,000 feet, needed to be compiled over a long enough period in advance of the tests to allow the day-to-day information coming in from ships and radiosonde balloons in the upper atmosphere to be used to forecast the conditions ahead of each test. If there was going to be radioactive fallout, the scientists and the Task Force Commander needed to know where it was drifting and where it might land. At the outset, detailed weather, wind and forecasting knowledge such as this was, for the extensive test area, simply non-existent.

         Over and above the four Valiant Bombers required for dropping the weapons, there had to be a small armada of different aircraft each chosen for its specific capabilities. Shackletons would have to deliver the initial staging post party to Christmas, and would also be needed for low and medium level photography, from about February 1957 onwards, and later for low-level radiation measurements. Hastings would operate the shuttle service to Honolulu and, on occasions, to Australia. Dakotas would operate between Christmas, Malden and the other islands to airlift stores and equipment that could not wait for ‘surface delivery’. PR7 Canberras with periscope sextants, ‘Green Satin’ doppler radar, and Loran would carry out the vital high level wind finding, photography and, after each test, the ultra-rapid delivery of the cloud samples back to the UK; but it would be the B6 Canberras that would carry out the actual post-test, cloud sample gathering.

         It would be Warrior’s Whirlwind helicopters and fixed wing Avengers that would ferry instrumentation records back from the test site on Malden and, using Warrior as a staging post, deliver these to the Canberras for despatch with the cloud samples back to AWRE in England. And, apart from the Avengers, every aircraft would need some mission-specific modifications; modifications which totalled over two thousand for the Valiants alone. A sobering thought in the minds of all senior officers was that, for most of these aircraft, there would be no easily-accessible diversionary airfield in the event of any emergency.8

         In total, seven warships would have roles to play in Grapple. They included the light fleet carrier HMS Warrior, which started the year in reserve in Devonport, together with the survey ship HMS Cook, named after the Navy’s revered explorer who had charted much of the area chosen, the Bay class frigate HMS Alert borrowed from C-in-C Far East to act as a spectators’ viewing platform during the second test, HMS Messina, an LST (Landing Ship Tanks), located in Malta and brought back to Chatham for a refit and extensive modification, a second LST, HMS Narvik, at that time out at the test site off the Monte Bello Islands in Australia, HMS Salvictor, an ocean-going salvage ship brought in to lay mooring buoys off the steeply shelving coasts of the Pacific islands, together with the New Zealand Navy Loch class frigates, HMNZS Pukaki and Rotoiti to provide essential high altitude meteorological data. In addition seven Royal Fleet Auxiliaries, the Navy’s own merchant shipping line, were deployed: Fort Beauharnois, Fort Constantine, Fort Rosalie, Wave Chief, Wave Prince, Wave Ruler and Gold Ranger. And, of course, the Navy was only one of the armed services involved, together with the scientists and other civil servants.

         By early November 1956, the new runway was complete and, almost literally, the last steamroller moved off the end of it as the first aircraft was touching down. No slippages in the timetable were needed at this late stage. Nor did the Foreign Office need the protest from the French, who raised concerns expressed by a scientist friend of the territory’s Governor about the possible effects of radioactive fallout on Tahiti from the planned weapon tests. Diplomats smoothed relations between the FO and the Quai d’Orsay but the scientist was not mollified by being overruled.

         Unaware of much of these high political, military and scientific events, there was, for many in the UK in 1956, a feeling that ‘things’ were finally improving. However, for many young men there was still the prospect, viewed with mixed feelings, of being called up for National Service. Eligible men already had their Certificate of Registration from their local office of the Ministry of Labour and National Service. Ten young men who would later serve together in the Gunroom in HMS Warrior, sailing via the Panama Canal to the Pacific and then all round South America and the Falkland Islands, were called up during the first half of the year and at various times progressed to become Temporary Acting Midshipmen in the RNVR by the end of 1956.

         First to be called up was Michael Anson who received the standard letter from the Ministry. ‘In accordance with the National Service Acts you are called up to serve in the Royal Navy and are required to present yourself at Victoria Barracks, Portsmouth and Southsea.’ In earlier centuries he might well have been snatched by the Press Gang off the London street where he lived. But this was 1956 and, instead of the King’s shilling, those called up were given a travel warrant to be exchanged for a Third Class railway ticket from their nearest station to Southsea and the generous advance of four shillings pay. Anson came from a family with a long connection with the Navy, being an indirect descendant of the famous 18th century circumnavigator of the globe, Admiral George Anson, the first and last Lord Anson who died without issue. As our Warrior story begins to unfold, in January 1957, Anson had already been serving for several months as a Midshipman in HMS Messina, sailing round the Pacific Islands delivering supplies and essential equipment as Operation Grapple built up, and had enjoyed a month in New Zealand while his ship underwent repairs there.

         Anson was followed in early 1956 by Jeremy Riches, the son of a Royal Marines senior officer but called up into the Navy as a Writer in the Supply & Secretariat Division. These are the ship’s Pursers (pronounced ‘Pussers’) who have the crucial job of keeping warships fed, watered, paid and supplied with all their manifold logistic requirements. After training at HMS Ceres near Wetherby, one of the Royal Navy’s ‘stone frigates’, Riches joined Warrior’s sister ship, HMS Theseus, as a Midshipman and took an active part in the Suez invasion before returning for ten days leave and then joining Warrior as assistant to the Captain’s Secretary.

         There were eight others who were enrolled as Ordinary Seamen; starting, in alphabetical order, with Rupert Cooper, a doctor’s son from Dorset, already an experienced and enthusiastic sailor, also keen on hunting, shooting and fishing, and an avid reader of The Field. He spent some time at sea on the lower deck but had demonstrated his seamanship and ‘officer-like qualities’ by captaining a storm-stricken yacht and navigating it from the open sea out of sight of land safely back to port, leading to his Captain’s ‘red recommendation’ that he become an Upper-Yardman.

         Richard Dennis had salt in his blood. His great-grandfather was a Master Mariner and his grandfather had been born at sea in the Indian Ocean. He was taught to sail at the age of six by his uncle, a national dinghy sailing champion. At fourteen he had to join the school CCF and opted for the Naval section. Then, at seventeen, he enlisted in the RNVR and spent two glorious weeks sea training in HMS Theseus listening enthralled to Captain (later Rear Admiral Sir Anthony) Miers VC as he recounted his exploits in command of a submarine during the raid on Taranto where he earned his decoration.

         Ian Maitland Hume joined the RNVR early in 1955, doing a fortnight’s training on HMS Vanguard. He left school in July 1955 and went to Paris to further his French language studies, staying there seven months. Returning to the UK, he spent the next three months as a hospital porter at Atkinson Morleys Hospital, before being called up at the end of May 1956.

         John Hutchinson, whose experiences of torrential downpours at a Combined Cadet Force camp in Wales had convinced him that the Army was no place to spend two years, joined the RNVR and during a fortnight’s sea training met one of his future Midshipman colleagues who encouraged him to keep trying to go for something he had already targeted, namely the Joint Services School of Languages in Bodmin. Next thing he knew was his call-up and arrival at Victoria Barracks where he was very soon selected to be an Upper Yardman. Despite continuing to enquire, his expressed wish to be sent to JSSL remained unfulfilled.

         Michael Kirchem would distinguish himself as a euphonium player in the ship’s band and have mixed fortunes as a coxswain of small boats. After National Service, Michael would go on to read law at Oxford, qualify as a solicitor, and work for the Inland Revenue. Sadly, he died in 2011, in his 74th year.

         Michael Johnston, the oldest of the group, was already a qualified textile designer, destined for the family weaving business in the Scottish Borders, but had also pursued a hobby of freelance broadcasting for the Younger Generation programmes of the BBC. Although pretty much of a landlubber, National Service in the Navy seemed to him the most attractive of the three options and he joined the RNVR just in time to do two weeks training in April before being called up in July. He too went from Victoria Barracks directly to his Upper Yardman course.

         Before doing National Service, Laurance Reed worked in the Display Department of the family business, Austin Reed, where he was taught the art of window dressing by a certain John Inman, later to become famous for his part in the television sitcom Are you being served? His first lesson, however, was about the law window dressers were required to observe. To display naked mannequins was not only immodest but illegal. Unless they were clothed or draped, the window blinds had to be drawn. Later, Reed spent six months working for Liberty’s, employed in several departments and ending up in Exports, despatching Liberty silks to exotic places. The department was in a separate building in the rather dull and uninteresting Carnaby Street, before its swinging sixties transformation.

         Gillespie – inevitably nicknamed ‘Dizzy’ – Robertson joined straight from school, in his case Eton, where he had been Head Boy. That might have influenced the Navy’s decision to send him off straight away for officer training. He observed in his Journal that, in those rather more ‘class’-conscious days, the National Service officers were predominantly from ‘public’ (i.e. private) secondary schools. That was certainly true of Warrior’s Gunroom. However, Robertson and most of the others welcomed the experience of being ‘taken down several pegs’ serving on the lower deck before promotion. This observation is confirmed in Richard Vinen’s 2014 book, National Service:

         
            ‘National service naval officers were almost always drawn from relatively privileged backgrounds, but they often commented that social class counted for less in the navy than in the army. This was in part because many regular naval officers had been educated at Dartmouth and were thus less preoccupied by the hierarchy of public schools that so interested army officers. It was also because naval officers generally lived in ships and were not required to indulge in the expensive entertainments that were sometimes expected of officers in smart regiments. Most importantly, officers who might be required to guide a destroyer into Valetta harbour, for example, placed a higher value on technical competence than social polish.’9

         

         All having opted to do their two-years of National Service in the Royal Navy, they had carried out at least two weeks basic training, at sea, sleeping in hammocks which they had to learn how to lash tightly and stow away every morning. This was usually on board HMS Theseus or HMS Ocean, two of the Royal Navy’s six aircraft carriers in service at that time. In Theseus, several of the group gazed with awe and respect at the carrier’s second-in-command, Commander (later Rear Admiral) Godfrey Place VC CB CVO DSC RN, who had captained the midget submarine X7 in the attack up a Norwegian fjord on the German battleship Tirpitz. Indeed, most of the officers they met of the rank of Lieutenant Commander and above were veterans of active service in World War II; in no sense a distant memory for anyone in 1956.

         The Upper Yardman training was usually carried out in various vessels of the Training Squadron and ‘stone frigates’, but some disruption to the usual courses resulted from ships like Ocean and Theseus being detached and sent to take part in the Suez operations. Experienced, and some of them recently Suez-hardened, NCOs were both the principal instructors and occasional tormentors of the Upper Yardmen, as well as regaling them with tales of ‘the one shot which blew the Egyptian destroyer out of the water’ and similar stories of how many of those on the front line felt Suez could and should have been ‘won.’ For a while stationed in the battleship HMS Vanguard, in the reserve fleet, the group finished up at HMS Raleigh, a training barracks at Torpoint in Cornwall across the Saltash from Devonport. On the whole, as Hutchinson recalls, ‘we liked to demonise the Chiefs and Petty Officers but we actually liked them. It was they who taught us seamanship. They affected to despise us but were quite intrigued by what we had to say and think.’ He noted too that, ‘There were a lot of intelligent, able and athletic people among us, several from interesting family and cultural backgrounds.’

         The Upper Yardmen eventually took their Appointment Board interviews and, duly commissioned, went on what amounted to ‘embarkation leave’. As they packed up and returned their bell bottom trousers and sailors’ round caps, and donned their brand new officers’ uniforms that had been made for them ‘on spec’ by approved Naval Outfitters, they came to terms with not only an increase in pay but also the activation of a monthly allotment to their chosen tailors to pay off the balance not covered by the Admiralty’s modest grant for these new clothes. Reed was the exception, as his uniforms were made for him by the family firm. However, since the Plymouth branch had been destroyed by enemy action during the war, he had to travel several times to the nearest branch in Exeter for fittings. As a member of the family, he was entitled to a thirty per cent discount!

         The Midshipmen would travel home in their new glory. Because it was the immediate aftermath of Suez and petrol was now rationed, one newly promoted Midshipman wearing the white flashes of his lowly rank, and naturally not one of the future Warriors, was reported later to have stopped at almost every filling station he passed on the way home to Scotland, saying, ‘My, but it’s cold here after Suez. Could you just top her up please?’

         
            1 http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Guy_Mollet#Suez accessed 6 November 2013

            2 Oulton, Christmas Island Cracker, London: Thomas Harmsworth, 1987, p.7

            3 Oulton, p. 8. Lees is referring to Lucky Dragon 5, a Japanese tuna fishing boat, which was exposed to and contaminated by nuclear fall-out from the United States’ thermonuclear device tested on Bikini Atoll, on 1 March 1954, with fatal results.

            4 Archives New Zealand [ABHS 950 W4627/3379 121/5/2 pt 1 (R20758368)], [ABHS 950 W4627/3379 121/5/2 pt 2 (R20758369)].

            5 The name was recycled in 1992 for the Army operations in the Balkans

            6 Oulton p.39

            7 Oulton p.120

            8 Oulton, pp.127/8

            9 Richard Vinen, National Service: Conscription in Britain, 1945–1963, London: Allen Lane, 2014, p.199

         

      

   


   
      
         

            JANUARY

            Devonport to Portsmouth

         

         For some, January 1957 began the day before. Officers appointed to ships of the Royal Navy receive a printed form letter telling them the name of their new ship, what their job would be, and where the ship would be lying on the date they had to join. During their training, towards the end of the course, when it is a reasonable assumption they are going to be promoted, Upper Yardmen aspiring to be Midshipmen, are taught the strict form of their reply to the Captain of their new ship.
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               Johnston’s appointment letter

            

         

         ‘Sir, I have the honour to acknowledge receipt of my appointment to HMS Warrior under your command to take effect from 1 January 1957. I request permission to join the ship on the day before in plain clothes. I have the honour to be, Sir, Your obedient servant,’ and the letter had to be signed with their name and lowly rank; Temporary Acting Midshipman, RNVR; temporary because they were on National Service and acting because, depending on their skill and their conduct, they would have to be confirmed in their rank. All their appointments were described as ‘additional for training.’

         HMS Warrior was a ‘Colossus class light fleet carrier’ built in 1944 by Harland & Wolff, 695 feet long, with a displacement of 18,300 tons, a fully operational complement of 1,300, and a maximum speed of 25 knots. After the war she had been loaned to the Canadian Navy and then came back to the UK where the Royal Navy used her to transport troops and aircraft to the Korean conflict. Before being selected for Grapple, Warrior had been in reserve and had to be sent for a refit in Devonport. The refit and trials having been completed to a very tight schedule, she awaited her new crew.

         The log of HMS Warrior, lying at 5 and 6 Wharfs, RN Dockyard, Devonport, shows that four newly promoted Midshipmen; Robertson, Reed, Johnston and Hutchinson; struggled up the starboard after-gangway during the evening of 31 December, carrying their fully packed standard issue light green suitcases and receiving their first real salute. Each one faced aft and raised his hat to the quarterdeck before being shown the way aft and then down, down, down to the Chest Flat on 4 deck, their large metal dormitory, just above the waterline and almost immediately over the propellers. To begin with, until others joined later in the month, it seemed spacious with ample locker space; into which, in addition to his uniforms and other clothes, Johnston carefully stowed his prize possession, a Boosey & Hawkes reel-to-reel, clockwork driven, tape recorder.

         For the officers of HMS Warrior, New Year celebrations began the night before. First of all there was the imminent start of a brand new year that needed to be suitably marked. Music was being provided on the harmonium by Lieutenant (SD) Calcutt, who was known affectionately by everyone as ‘Harpic’; the Navy’s regular nickname for anyone displaying more than mild eccentricity and considered, therefore, to be ‘clean round the bend’. A fair number of wives and girlfriends had also been invited aboard, adding glamour to the party.

         In the brand new uniforms they were all still paying for, the four ‘Snotties’ joined the party, but scarcely needed to buy their own drinks, such was the welcoming generosity of the Wardroom. It was distinctly rosy-cheeked, even flushed, Midshipmen who heard for the first time the naval tradition of marking midnight and the start of the first Middle Watch of the year by ringing out the Old Year with eight bells and ringing in the New Year with a further eight. This was done on the quarterdeck by the youngest Junior Seaman on board. Robertson used his ‘going-away present’, a new Rolex chronometer watch, to mark the time and change of date. Johnston used his tape recorder to capture the sixteen bells and the singing of Auld Lang Syne. (None of these recordings now exist but they did survive long enough for him to make a radio programme for the BBC of the music heard and played during the voyage of the Warriors.)

         The Royal Navy custom was then that in their larger ships the most junior officers constituted the Gunroom as their own mess; separate from the Wardroom, the domain of more senior officers except the Captain. The Midshipmen were joined in Warrior’s Gunroom by five RN Sub-Lieutenants, both engineers and pilots, and by Lt Jeffrey Bagg RN who would be Gunroom President. By contrast with the somewhat spartan life of Upper-Yardmen which they had been putting up with for the previous several months, life as Midshipmen was one of significantly improved comfort, quality of food served by Officers’ Stewards, and, above all, the respect of naval ratings, up to and including war-veteran Chief Petty Officers whose opposite numbers during training had bawled them out for the slightest misdemeanour. Even the fearsome Master-at-Arms, the ship’s chief of police, would salute and address these young men, scarcely half his age and one-hundredth of his experience as ‘Sir!!!’

         That first night, the Midshipmen had blankets but no sheets. Hutchinson threw a chocolate over to Johnston who failed to catch it and, in the morning, thought at first he had been bleeding.

         On New Year’s Day, the four Midshipmen met formally the officer responsible for the training for which they had been appointed. Lieutenant-Commander Donald T Watts RN was also the ship’s Navigating Officer who would be plotting Warrior’s passage and position for the next ten months and 40,000 miles. They were now going to have to put into practice one of the mnemonics they had been taught; this one as the check-list of points for the Officer of the Watch as he took over. It ran ‘Sacks of wet medical beans’. Probably C was for ‘Captain’s whereabouts’ but none of the Midshipmen can now remember the rest.

         Watts was blue-eyed and fair-haired and a seaman to his fingertips, and hailed from Hunstanton, near where Horatio Nelson was born. Then, and throughout their service in Warrior, the National Service Midshipmen held him in high esteem; and forty years later he would be their guest of honour at their 1997 reunion held at the Royal Yacht Squadron.
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               Watts (left) at 40th anniversary reunion at the Royal Yacht Squadron

            

         

         Watts was to be their Divisional Officer and would supervise their practical experience in navigation; the use of the sextant to take the altitude of sun and stars and then how to transform these accurate timed measurements into a precise calculation of the ship’s position by triangulation, plus the more modern but not yet more accurate electronic means of Radar, Loran and Decca Navigator.

         They also met the very impressive ship’s Executive Officer, Commander (later Captain) Robin A Begg RN, second in command to the Captain; a mountain of a man, tall and broad, with a voice like a foghorn, and every inch and ounce a seaman.
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               Commander Begg (Rowsell)

            

         

         He had been in command of Warrior during the refit. His larger-than-life manner went with a broad smile and a wicked sense of humour. During the voyage, the Midshipmen would see this smile, enjoy his humour and get the occasional tongue-lashing for anything less than wholly satisfactory execution of their duties. This last started the same day for Johnston who was cheerfully whistling as he crossed the flight deck and the path of the Commander. He was smartly referred to the chapter on Naval Customs in his Manual of Seamanship Vol. I, where it makes clear that whistling is expressly forbidden in HM ships lest it be confused with the piping of orders: though perhaps in sailing days an exception had to be made when it was necessary to ‘whistle for a wind’?

         At lunchtime there was yet another high-fluid-content party in the Wardroom to celebrate the administrative promotion of every Commissioned Branch Officer in the Navy. These were men who, like the brand-new Midshipmen, had been promoted to officer rank from the lower deck; former Petty Officers and Chief Petty Officers all of whom, on the stroke of midnight, had become Lieutenants and Sub-Lieutenants SD (Special Duties).

         Roles and responsibilities were allocated during the day. Robertson became an Assistant Divisional Officer for the Quarterdeck Division and Assistant Boats Officer under Lt Harland, a role in which he revelled. Johnston became Lt Bagg’s deputy as Assistant Divisional Officer for the Junior Seamen on board. He wondered if, somewhere in his records, they had seen he had been a Boy Scout. And life became serious in other ways as the Gunroom officers drew lots to see who would be wine caterer. Naval Officers on board ship may drink alcohol, but their consumption is restricted on a ‘per stripe’ basis. A Lieutenant-Commander, for example, may buy two and a half times what is permitted for a Sub-Lieutenant, but Midshipmen only half of that. Officers sign chits for what they consume and the wine caterer has to tally up the chits and, harder still, reconcile the amount consumed with the stock remaining, which never tallies. Much to everyone else’s relief, but to his own satisfaction, Hutchinson drew the black spot. He relished the opportunity to make important decisions such as whether to stock Mersault and/or Chablis – a decision he reached only after careful research.

         Johnston’s relief did not last long, however, as he became the mineral caterer, responsible for the mixers such as Canada Dry Ginger Ale which, with a tot of brandy, made the very tasty Horse’s Neck, with a duty-free price outside British territorial waters of 4d; four old pence each, or less than 2p in today’s decimal coinage, for the brandy and the ginger ale. Since a can of lager cost a colossal 9d, spirit drinking was made very tempting. However, some officers would drown their brandy in a whole small bottle of GA while others would make it do for two tots of brandy. Johnston was later to get into total confusion and need help (and counselling) to sort out who was due to pay what. Payment for drinks was made by the signing of a Mess Chit which was then recorded in the Messbook. Alcohol consumption was strictly monitored and one of the duties of purser Midshipman Riches was to take the Wardroom and Gunroom Messbooks each week to the Captain. These the Captain would peruse and call before him any officer he considered to be drinking excessively.
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               Warrior in the Channel

            

         

         On 3 January, Warrior, with the assistance of a tug called, of all things, ‘Grappler’, moved down the Hamoaze to F buoy inside the breakwater in Plymouth Sound and, early the following day, slipped her moorings and sailed for Spithead, the anchorage in the Solent off Gilkicker Point, made famous by the Fleet Reviews held there, most recently to celebrate the 1953 Coronation. Despite spanking along at 16 knots it took Warrior until the next day to reach Spithead; at which point the ship’s complement of RN and RAF helicopters flew on board for exercises. In the first of many letters home, Johnston recalls that on the evening of the 4th, he relieved Hutchinson in the Operations Room from where, if asked, he was required to pass information to the bridge. He had found he’d had to hold on as he made his way up for his watch as the ship was bashing along ‘like a Jeep on a cart track’. Using radar, the Operations Room watched the movements of other ships in the vicinity and plotted their positions on a large Perspex-topped table. This was all completely new to him but fortunately the bridge did not ask for anything and the radar ratings said ‘Sir’ to him so much that he felt embarrassed. He tried to conceal this by drinking copious amounts of kai;1 the ship’s cocoa, rich, dark and strong; and smoking ‘Senior Service’.
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               Avenger landing on Warrior (Rowsell)
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               Avenger taking off (Rowsell)

            

         

         On the 6th, Warrior weighed anchor and carried out more exercises, testing out the ship, the helicopters and the crew after the refit. These included practice with one of the RAF Valiants which would be dropping the megaton weapon some four months later on, but the purpose here was to test the procedure for controlling the aircraft from the ship’s radar. Johnston was there as the anchor broke the surface and then went up to the roof of the ‘island’, that off-centre tower block on the starboard side of the flight deck, and from the Gun Director Platform was able to watch the fixed wing Grumman Avengers doing landings and take-offs.

         The Avengers were elderly, near-obsolete US Navy single-engine torpedo bombers with a normal crew of three, but rugged and reliable and judged useful during the Grapple operation for transport between Warrior, Christmas Island and Malden Island, designated as the test site.2 They needed, of course, to be catapulted into the air off the angled flight deck, a very modern innovation, and Johnston saw that the wire strop that attached the plane to the catapult dropped into the sea as the plane became airborne. He wondered if Stores had enough strops to last out for the duration of the mission. He wrote home, ‘The adrenalin rush I felt as the Avengers landed and came to an almost immediate halt as their hooks caught the arrester wires must have been nothing compared with that for the pilots; especially on their first carrier landing. It certainly beats an emergency stop during the driving test.’ An aircraft carrier usually steams into the wind to increase the relative wind speed over the flight deck; however, the Commander would later regale the Gunroom with his story that, during earlier flying trials, he had had to steam slowly astern so as to reduce the wind speed across the flight deck. Conning a ship the size and peculiar shape (with the island off-centre creating a high wall to the wind) was never an easy task, as one of the RN Lieutenants found to his embarrassment, leading to his admonishment being recorded in the ship’s log – not a career-enhancing event.

         After her sea and flying trials, Warrior berthed at Pitch House Jetty and the work of provisioning and leave taking (in both senses of the words) got under way. There was a visit on the 23rd from Air Vice-Marshal Wilfred Oulton, Task Force Commander of Operation Grapple. The AVM records that Commodore Gretton, then in overall Naval command under Oulton, had previously been offered command of Warrior, but that had been cancelled as a defence cut saving. He was now going to have Warrior under his control but with Captain Roger Hicks as her commanding officer.3
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               Captain Hicks (Rowsell)

            

         

         Later he mentions approving an RAF liaison officer (who would turn out to be S/Ldr ‘Roly’ Duck) to join the ship and work alongside Warrior’s Commander (A) Whitfield who had been involved in the forward planning since 1956.4 By this time HMS Messina was already out in the Pacific.

         Another ‘snotty’ joined the ship briefly, Midshipman Wedgwood; but his earnest wish to go into submarines instead was unexpectedly granted and he left within days for HMS Dolphin. However, on 20 January, Warrior welcomed not one replacement for him but four newly hatched, ten-day-old Midshipmen; Rupert Cooper, Ian Maitland Hume, Richard Dennis and Michael Kirchem, all seamen officers. Hutchinson reflected that, ‘there was speculation about the choice of the Midshipmen on Warrior. No notable sportsmen were selected. Good rugby players were too valuable to lose from Navy Teams. [Robertson, conscious of his three years in his school’s first XV disputes the accuracy of this assessment!] Nor did we have any notorious entrepreneurs and public bores. Whatever was the formula, random or deliberate, it worked very well.’ Cooper had asked permission to bring his fishing rods and a pair of 12 bore shotguns on board which were duly secured in the ship’s armoury. Cooper then learned that Fleet Air Arm pilots were encouraged to undertake shooting practice to instil in them the habit of firing at where the target would be at the moment of impact rather than where it was at the moment of firing. This meant he could be sure of regular practice and an endless supply of clay pigeons.

         The new arrivals made the Chest Flat, Cabin 108, seem crowded until all settled down and got used to it. Life for the Gunroom mineral caterer, however, became much more complicated! Mind you, age also had its privileges and Johnston’s letter home says that having eight seamen Midshipmen should make it easier for him to get a long weekend’s leave before the ship sailed for the Pacific. He used that to go up to London and see a BBC boffin to get the okay for his tape recorder to make sure it was up to broadcast quality. He also met his parents there who had come down from Scotland to say their goodbyes.

         All the while, vast quantities of stores were being loaded, not least 150,000 crates of beer, each crate holding twenty-four cans and all destined for the troops on Christmas Island. All the cans had printed on them ‘Specially prepared for HM forces engaged on the Megaton trials, Christmas Island’.

         Towards the end of the month, around 170 soldier and airmen passengers came on board. Then, on 29 January, Midshipman Jeremy Riches, from the Supply and Secretariat Division, brought the tally up to ten, if we include Anson who was, by this time, already out in the South Pacific. Riches was not long back from active service off Suez during that brief campaign, where he witnessed action and helped to ferry wounded back to Malta and the UK, having been granted only ten days leave before being posted to Warrior almost immediately before she sailed for the Pacific. He was thrown in at the deep end with a variety of duties ranging from assisting the Captain’s secretary to assisting the pay officer and working with the Chief Petty Officer in charge of stores. This would have the unfortunate consequence for him of a lighter workload while at sea but rather less time off than the other Midshipmen when in port.

         Shipboard routine for the deck officer Midshipmen in harbour included an 0700 session of PT on the quarterdeck and some practise in boat running at which some were more adept than others. Hume recalls Johnston heading full throttle for the jetty before his own urgent counsel prevailed. Boats Officer Lt Harland complained that during the month in Portsmouth the Midshipmen had holed every one of his boats. The trickiest moment would come, however, when the officer on deck in charge of lowering boats with a swell running shouted ‘Slip!’ and the crew member manning the ‘Robinson’s release gear’ did his job.

         The boat, engine already running, was supposed to drop neatly onto the crest of the next wave and set off steering away from the ship’s side. If an inexperienced officer, such as most Midshipmen were, misjudged the timing of the wave it could seem like a long drop. Other naval education included learning the Morse code and operating Aldis lamps and generally becoming familiar with the whole ship and its many routines and regulations. There was some diversion, however.
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               Diagram of Robinson’s release gear (Robertson)

            

         

         First there was the excursion by floating crane to pick up a piano from HMS Theseus, in which Riches had served in the Mediterranean and others knew from their RNVR training. The piano was piped over the side as it left Theseus and made the journey to Warrior suspended in a sling from the crane while Johnston (according to Robertson, although the alleged pianist cannot now recall this), ‘his ravaged features creased in a wild grin’, gave a very creditable rendition of Rule Britannia with the piano swaying perilously across the water. The instrument turned out to be a Bechstein, worth about £90 in 1957 money; the equivalent purchasing power of at least £2,000 in 2017 terms! Then, at the end of the month, the Gunroom was transformed into a grotto and a dinner party was held for the girlfriends or chosen female acquaintances. Robertson, given the responsibility of meeting them at the railway station, had some difficulty in recognising which young ladies to accost and then escort to the Queen’s Hotel, Southsea.

         Whether Officers’ Steward Smith, who spilled soup down what one of Reed’s shipmates still recalls as the ‘delectable décolletage’ of his girlfriend Angela, was ‘under training’ or maybe even ‘under the influence’ is now long forgotten, but the said Angela has recently confirmed that she still remembers the incident. Whether it was the same event differently recalled or yet another incident is not clear, but Hume says one young lady had sherry spilled down her back! Cooper had a new Rock’n’Roll record to which the Gunroom and guests all danced, the young officers resplendent for the first time in their mess jackets.

         31 January was meant to be the last day before sailing. Hume went for a pint of scrumpy at the Lennox and then the front row of the stalls at the Empire, with a very good view of ‘ladies in the nude’; only one of whom he thought was anything to write home about. [Although, there is no record of his actually writing home about this!]

         But now the preparation was over and it was off to sea.

         
            1 It came in large blocks of solid dark chocolate. It was broken down into the required amount and boiling water added. Optional additions were condensed milk, sugar and occasionally ‘pusser’s rum’.

            2 Oulton, p.46

            3 Oulton, p.84

            4 Oulton, p.90

         

      

   


   
      
         

            FEBRUARY

            English Channel to the Pacific

         

         Some families and friends came to wave goodbye but it wasn’t the weather for spectators. Sailors, however, lined Warrior’s flight deck and were called to attention by bugle and boatswain’s pipe to salute the various Admirals whose flags flew in Portsmouth; C-in-C Portsmouth whose flag flew in HMS Victory, the C-in-C Western Approaches, and the Admiral Superintendent of the Dockyard; and to return the salutes of lesser ships. It was the start of a month’s passage from 51° N, 1° W to their new temporary base, Christmas Island, right in the middle of the Pacific, deliberately chosen for its remoteness, 1° N, 157° W; some 9,000 nautical miles from Portsmouth. But, depending on who was telling the story, there were lighter moments. Midshipman Kirchem, watch-keeping on the bridge, and fiddling with something, suddenly managed to broadcast the BBC Light Programme to the whole ship and was hung up by his shirt collar by the gigantic Commander, and characterised as ‘my little thrush’! There was probably no direct connection but Kirchem, along with Reed, spent a storm-tossed February in the Engine Room.

         Apart from an immense amount and variety of essential stores and scientific equipment secured in the hangars, there was also provision for recreation that included a number of surf boats, 15,000 rounds of 12 bore ammunition and some 400 lbs of plaster of Paris for making clay pigeons.

         At the very civilised hour of 1315 on 2 February, a day later than planned due to the weather reports from the Channel, Warrior slipped from Pitch House Jetty and headed to St Helen’s Roads, the anchorage off Bembridge on the Isle of Wight, to take on Avgas, fuel for the choppers and Avengers; a procedure carried out offshore for safety reasons. At that point too, eight helicopters, six Navy and two RAF, and three Avengers flew on board from HMS Daedalus. While the Royal Navy and RAF flying crews came aboard with their aircraft, the ground crew came off by lighter. Already a sea was running and the only relatively safe way they could come on board was by using scrambling nets. The knack of doing this safely is to jump for the net as the lighter is rising, otherwise one is likely to be knocked off the net by the boat on its next rise; a lesson some learned the hard way. Then, at 1745 during the First Dog Watch, Warrior weighed anchor and set course for Kingston, Jamaica. For the ship and her crew plus the ninety-seven RAF and seventy-one Army personnel, it would be a bumpy passage.

         As Warrior reached her cruising speed of 16 knots, the weather was dull with drizzle and the wind was a light sou’westerly. A slight sea was running: all in all, English Channel weather for the time of year; but the forecast was it might get worse. Just how much worse, the levels of weather forecasting sophistication in 1957 were not able to say. All hands were deployed to doubly secure for sea, but as the crew would soon discover, this was never going to be enough. The last Warrior saw of the UK was a vague gleam whipping across the horizon on the starboard beam – the Lizard Light – during the morning watch on the 3rd. As instructed by the Officer of the Watch, Johnston took a bearing of it from the wings of the bridge and measured its distance from the ship on the radar plot, entering the details in the Ship’s Log. The winds were already Force 6 from the south-west, the direction in which Warrior was sailing, towards the deepening depression. The sea was rough and those who had any were already taking Kwells with their tot. By the First Dog Watch, the wind speed had risen to Force 8, fresh gale according to the Beaufort scale description, and there was spray driving over the flight deck. The ship was already pitching heavily. Only nine of the Gunroom’s fifteen officers sat down to dinner.

         By 1000 on 4 February, some one hundred miles south-west of Ushant, Warrior steamed directly into a storm that would last for five days and at times reach hurricane Force 12, with winds gusting to 105 knots. Instead of ‘running from the storm’ as a more cautious ship might have done, Warrior, with a schedule to try and maintain, steered directly into it. The engine revolutions were set for about 15 knots but after twenty-four hours the Navigator calculated that the ship had gone astern sixteen sea miles. Looking out from the bridge, watch-keepers saw a scene of utter desolation; the sea at its cruellest. Warrior was not a small ship but a light fleet carrier with a length of 695 feet and beam of 80 feet. Her angled flight deck was over 700 feet long and was 60 feet above the ship’s water line. The island bridge on her starboard side was a further 30–35 feet above the flight deck. And yet the ship rolled and pitched in the sea like a toy boat and the wave troughs were on some occasions 60–70 feet deep.

         Movement round the ship was restricted and over half the ship’s company was laid out, seasick and ill in their hammocks or on their bunks. Though a Monday, the ship worked Sunday routine. The whole sea was a whirling white mass of spindrift, and visibility from the bridge was at times no further for’ard than the end of the flight deck, say 100–150 ft. Every thirty minutes, risking life and limb, a bridge messenger went out onto the walkway in front of the bridge windows and washed off the encrusted salt to restore visibility from a virtual nil to at least as far as the ship’s bow. The ship was asking the engine room for the revolutions that, in a calm sea, would have made for 12 knots but in the prevailing conditions the Navigator estimated a speed made good of, at best, three!
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               Shipping it 'green' over the flight deck (Rowsell)

            

         

         Every third wave the whole ship plunged down into a trough and the gigantic crest broke over the flight deck and ran in all directions like water thrown from a barrel. Often, as the ship dipped into a trough, there would be a solid thud as the bow hit the oncoming wave head on and the ship seemed to stop in her tracks. ‘Getting from stern to bridge was a dodgy ascent. You collided with every bulkhead and piece of equipment en route to stay upright, often caught by the whirling power and noise of the wind,’ wrote Hutchinson. Looking aft to the stern one saw the flight deck whip up into the air and felt the enormous shudder as the propellers, which had risen close to or even above the surface, raced and then sank back into the sea. It was an awe-inspiring sight; not that those on board had time to engage in profound thoughts. It was ‘one hand for the ship and one hand for yourself’ in order to avoid personal injury. This was especially true when, every hour, the Midshipman of the Watch and the Coxswain or a Bosun’s Mate went on rounds throughout the ship. They would report back to the Officer of the Watch the considerable damage they had seen. Twenty life rafts, some of which were seen to inflate perfectly, were washed overboard together with a whaler and two dinghies. There was water in the cable locker which had to be continuously pumped out and the for’ard trim tanks had so much water in them that the tanks in the stern had to be filled to compensate and try to keep the bows from digging so deeply into the waves. It was clear, as later external inspection would confirm, that there was a massive dent in the starboard bow, as if some mighty fist had punched it. The ship’s carpenter’s stores and workshop were wrecked and the bulkheads needed shoring up with massive balks of timber and wedges hammered in.
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Epic events seem to disappear into history with remarkable ease. 2014
saw the centenary of the start of the First World War, and there have been major
international events to mark various anniversaries of significant dates during the
Second World War.

1 happened to be serving in the British Pacific Fleet when the first nuclear
bombs were dropped on Japan in 1945. As it brought 6 years of total and brutal
war to an end, I think we were all more relieved than anxious about the dawning
of the nuclear age. But then the major powers started testing ever more efficient
nuclear weapons and it was quite impossible not to feel anxiety about the future.

That ominous event in Japan ushered in the nuclear age and after the war,
the major powers started a whole series of tests of nuclear weapons. In 1957
Great Britain tested its own weapons near the Pacific atoll of Christmas Island.
Among the fleet of ships attending those tests was the aircraft carrier HMS
Warrior and serving in that ship at the time was a group of National Service
Royal Naval Volunteer Reserve Midshipmen. They have remained in touch with
each other ever since, and to mark the 60" anniversary of those nuclear weapons
tests, they have put together their accounts of those days from their
Midshipman’s Journals and their letters home. It makes fascinating reading, and
T hope that many will read it, because all the proceeds will be donated to Royal

Naval Charities. %
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